CHAPTER 1
GENERAL

Puri, one of the coastal districts of Orissa, is famous for its
historic antiquities and religious sanctuaries. 1t boasts of a conti-
nuous history from the 3rd century B. C. to the present day and it$
unique monuments like those of Jagannath at Puri, Lingaraj at
Bhubaneshwar and the Sun-God at Konarak are famous in the world.
It has the Chilka lake, one of the largest lakes in India, that holds
a picturesque sea-scape and offers an ideal resort for birds who
migrate from different parts of the continent. There are two peren-
nial hot springs with their sulphuretted water containing curative
properties. Besides, there are many a natural spring reputed through-
out India for their health-giving mineral water. By virtue of its
geographical location, the climate of Puri is equable throughout the
year. Thus, Puri with its historicity, religious sanctity, architectural
grandeur, sea-scape beauty and moderate climate holds a wealth
of attraction for the visitors.

The district has been named after its headquarters town, Puri.
According to Cunningham the ancient name of this town was
Charitra mentioned by the Chinese pilgrim Hiuen Tsang as Che-li-ta-lo.
But the restoration of the word Che-li-ta-lo as Charitra and its
identification with the town of Puri are open to doubt. The . impor-
tance of the town as a seat of Vaisnavism increased when Choda-
ganga Deva constructed the temple of Purusottama Jagannath
and installed the images of the deities. Thereafter, it became famous
as the abode of Purusottama and was popularly called Puru-
sottama Kshetra.

In the drama Anargharaghava Natakam attributed to cir. 9th cen-
tury A. D. we find the name Purusottama applied to this town. In the
Nagari Plate of Anangabhima III of ;the Saka year 1151-52 ie.,
1229-30 A. D, the place is called Purusottama Kshetra. This name
in the form of Purusottama Chhatar or only in the form Chhatar
was used by the Mughal, the Maratha as well as the early British
rulers in their official records. Even in Yoginitantral; and Kalika-
purana the city is referred to as Purusottam. Puriz region was
also known as Utkal.

1. B. C. Lal—Historical Geography of Ancient India, p. 184
2. D. C. Sircar—Study in Geography of Ancient and Medieval India, p. 84.
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The name; Purusottama Kshetra was also for sometime known as
Purusottama Puri and as the word Purusottama Kshetra was contracted
into Kshetra or Chhatra so also PurusottamaPuri was expressed in the
In fact, in many early British records this

contracted form Puri.
In modern times Puri has become

town is known by the name Pooree.
the most popular of all the other names of this town.

Location, The district of Puri lies between 19°28” and 20°35" North latitude

ﬁzﬁgﬁries and 84°29' and 86°25' East longitude. It is bounded on the north

total area  and north-east by the districts of Dhenkanal and Cuttack, on the

tai%% popula- oot and  south-west by the districts of Baudh- Khondmals and
Ganjam, and on the south and south-east by the Bay of Bengal.

It extends over an area of 10,159 sq. km. (Surveyor General of

India) and had a population of 2,340,859 souls (1,183,838 males and

1,157,021 females) in the year 1971. The district with 6.52 per cent

of the State’s area and 10-67 per cent of the State’s population occu-

pies the nineth and the second place respectively among the thirteen

districts of Orissa.

History Under the Mughal rule (1592-1751), Orissa for the purpose of

ODf‘ 5?1}% casan Revenue Administration was divided into three circars, namely, Jale-
1STET - .« . .

administra.  swar, Bhadrak, and Kataka, each of which was subdivided into

tive unit Mahals or Dandapatas, and the Mahals were again subdivided into

and changes o )
iuits parts.  Bishis. Puri formed a part of Kataka circar and comprised the

following Mabhals :

Khettra—Areas about 25 sq. km. neighbouring Puri town.

Chabiskot (Chabiskud)—It comprised Manikapatna and Malud.

Sirai—Consisted of Bishis, namely, Aru, Kavara, Talitara and
Sirai and comprised the territory to the mnorth-west of
the Chilka lake.

Kotdess—The present XKotdesh pargana of Puri district. It consi-
sted of two Bishis, namely, Ormola and Karmal.

Dalkhandikh (Dakhinadiga)—Consisted of 17 Bishis, namely,
Athais, Aantrodh, Oldhar, Kate, Kurulo, Kuda-
hara, Kotrahang, Kodhar, Domarkhand, Deogaoa,
Paschim-duai, Purb-duai, Banchas, Marada, Rahang,

Saibir and Sailo.
Digitized by: Odishaarchives.gov.in for Gopabandhu Academy of Administration, Odisha



GENERAL 3

The Ain-i-Akbari mentions Manikapatna as one of the Mahals.
But it was, in fact, included in the Dandapata of Chabiskot.  Accor-
ding to it there were 21 Mahals under Kataka circar but actually
it gives only the names of 20 Mahals. But as viewed by M. M.
Chakravarti Lembai Dandapat identified with the Lembai Pargana
of Puri district was the 21st Mahal of Kataka circar.

After their occupation of Orissa in 1751, the Marathas brought
about some changes in the revenue divisions of the Province. They
divided Orissa, which then extended from the river Suvarnarekha in
the north to the lake Chilka in the south, into five chakalas, viz.,
(/) Pipli (if) Kataka (iif) Bhadrak (iv) Soro and (v) Balasore. The
Chakala of Pipli comprised major portions of the modern district
of Puri. The Chakalas were divided into Parganas and the Parganas
into Mahals or Talugs.

The Raja of Khurda was a very influential ruler since the Mughal
time and under him there were two hundred killas and thirty-one
Zamindars. Out of these thrity-one Zamindars, some chiefs like
those of Baramba, Tigiria, Narasinghapur, Talcher, Athgarh, Naya-
garh, Ranpur, and  Daspalla became feudatory chiefs under the
British rule while some continued as Zamindars, The last named
three feudatory states are now included in the Nayagarh  subdivision
of the Puri  district.

The conquest of Orissa by the British in 1803 set forth great
changes in revenue divisions and political relations. Tn June 1804,
the Province was divided into two divisions, namely, the northern
and southern divisions, the river Mahanadi, forming the natural
boundary. Robert Ker and Charles Groeme were appointed
as Judge, Magistrate and Collector in northern and southern divi-
sions respectively. But by the Regulation XIIT of 1805 the northern
and southern divisions were amalgamated and placed wunder | one
Collector. Regulation XIV of the same year created two  separate
posts. Accordingly G. Webb succeeded Groeme as Collector and
Robert Ker became the Judge and Magistrate of the whole province.

As the Raja of Khurda revolted in 1804, he was arrested and was
placed in confinement in the Fort of Barabati at Cuttack. His
territory was confiscated and the Raja was subsequently released.
In 1807 he was permitted to live at Balisahi in the town of Puri and
functioned as the Superintendent of the iemple of Jagannath.

Puri (Pooree) was the capital of the province of Orissa and the
headquarters of the Collector. till 1816. In 1806 there was a proposal
to remove the headquarters to Jajpur (Jajipur), butit did not get
gopsmzedy: ctngtiarchivis. gadugist Gob&bdndhupAchdeinyt he Ad@isiktetiinfs Odisha
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establishment was removed to Cuttack, which was again  brought

back to Puri in December. A petition from a number of Zamindars

for the removal of the Collectorate to Cuttack, which w
Mughal and the Marathas, although

y approved and the headquarters
i to Cuttack in 1816.

administration under the
rejected by the Collector, was finall
was permanently shifted from Pur

By the Regulation T of 1818 the office of the Commissioner was
established and Robert Ker became the first Commissioner.  From
1813 to 1819 there was a Joint Magistrate at Puri with jurisdiction
over the Thanas of Pipli, Gop, Hariharpur and Kiran. But this
office was abolished in 1819 and the Joint Magistrate of Khurda
was given the charge of the above Thanas. On 14th February 1822,
the officé of the Joint Magistrate of Khurda was also abolished and
the Collector of Cuttack was given the charge of that office. By this
arrangement Orissa was again divided into two divisions with the
river Baitarani as the dividing line. Wilkinson, the Collector of
Cuttack, was placed in charge of Cuttack and Khurda, and Ricketts
with powers of a Collector was given the charge of Balasore and
Bhadrak. Finally on the 23rd October 1828, the province was
divided into three districts, namely, Balasore, Cuttack, and Jagannath,
later known as Puri.

Regulation 1V of 1821 had provided that the power of a Magi
strate and Collector might be vested in one and the same person and
accordingly one Magistrate and Collector was appointed in each of
the above three districts. H. Ricketts, R. Hunter and W. Wilkinson
were the first Magistrates and Collectors of Balasore, Cuttack and
Puri districts respectively.

In 1837 it was decided to separate the magisterial powers from that
of the Collectors. And although by 1845 the separation of powers
was effected in Bengal, Bihar and Assam, the three districts of Orissa
continued to have the old arrangements as laid down in the Regu-
lation IV of 1821.

In 1912 the new Province of Bihar and Orissa was formed
and subsequently Orissa became a separate province in 1936. During
these years no conspicuous change had occured in the territorial
extent of the district. But after integration with Orissa on 1st January
1948 of the feudatory States of Nayagarh, Daspalla, Khandapara
and Ranpur with a total area of 3941'1 sq. km. a separate subdivi-
sion comprising these ex-States was added to Puri district with head-
quarters at Nayagarh. The fourth subdivision of Bhubaneshwar
was carved out on 26th January, 1959.
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Thirty-one revenue villages comprising an area of 7806 sq. km .
pertaining to Nimapara, and 35 revenue villages with an area of 8547
sq. km. of Daspalla Tahsils of Puri district were transferred to
Cuttack district and tagged to Jagatsinghpur and Narasinghapur
Tahsils  respectively under  Revenue Department Notification
No. 67290-R., dated the 7th November 1969 and No. 63013-R., dated
the 6th November 1967. Similarly 28 revenue villages covering
an area of 67'34 sq. km. of Sadar Tahsil of Cuttack district were
transferred and attached to the Bhubaneshwar Tahsil of Puri district
under Revenue Department Notification No. 61402, dated the 30th
September 1969. Thus ultimately Puri district parted with an area
of 9579 sq. km. in the exchange.

The district is divided into four subdivisions, namely, Puri Sadar,
Khurda, Nayagarh and Bhubaneshwar. Tt consists of eleven Tahsils
and twenty-eight police stations. The five towns of Puri district
are Puri, Bhubaneshwar, Khurda, WNayagarh and Jatni. Of them,
the population of Bhubaneshwar exceeds one lakh.

The Sadar subdivision occupies mostly the south-eastern portion
of the district and has an area of 3558°8 sq. km., and had a population
of 899,032 persons as enumerated in the 1971 Census. It consists of
four Tahsils and nine police stations. Puri, the famous historic town,
is the only town of this subdivision.

Khurda subdivision occupies the tract intervening between Naya-
garh on the west and Puri and Bhubaneshwar on the east. lts area
and population in 1971 were 1914-1 sq. km. and 467,819 persons res-
pectively. Khurda and Jatni are its towns. [t is divided into two
Tahsils and five police stations.

Nayagarh is the westernmost subdivision of the district. Accor-
ding to 1971 Census its area was 3941.1 q. km. with a population of
578,498 souls. Nayagarh is its only town. It has four Tahsils and
nine police stations.

Youngest of the subdivisions, Bhubaneshwar, occupies the
north-eastern portion of the district. Tts only town Bhubaneshwar
is the Capital of Orissa. Its area and population were 9352 sq. km.,
and 395,510 souls respectively in the year 1971. It has five police
stations and one Tahsil coterminous with the subdivision.

The subdivisions derive their name from the names of their res-
pective headquarters towns.

Subdivisions,
Tahsils and
Thanas
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The names of Tahsils of each subdivision with their area and popu-
lation and the names of component police stations are given in the

Table below.

Police Stations

Subdivisions Tahsils with area
in sq. km. and
population
Puri 1. Krushnaprasad (a) Krushnaprasad
A-7727
P-25,990
2. Sadar (a) Sadar
A-1,438'5 (b) Brahmagin
P-395,170 (¢) Satyabadi
3. Pipli (a) Pipli
A-3880 (b) Delang
P-149,277
4. Nimapara (a) Nimapara
A-959°6 (b) Gop
P-328,595 (c) Kakatpur
Khurda 1. Khurda (@) Khurda
A-997°2 (b) Bolgarh
P-259,573 (¢) Begunia
2. Banpur (a) Banpur
A-916'9 (b) Tangi
P-208,246
Bhubaneshwar 1. Bhubaneshwar (@) Bhubaneshwar
A-9352 (b) Balipatna
P-395,510 (¢) Balianta
(d) Chandaka
(e) Jatni
Nayagarh 1. Nayagarh (@) Nayagarh
A-1429-7 (b) Odagaon
P-271,469 (¢) Nuagaon
(d Sarankul
2. Daspalla (a) Daspalla
A-13665 (b) Gania
P-83,074
3. Khandapara (@) Khandapara
A-621"7 (b) Fategarh
P-138,702
4. Ranpur (@) Ranpu-
A.-5232
P 85,253
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Besides, Puri Municipality area is covered by the Town Police
Station, Puri; and Bhubaneshwar Notified Area by Capital Police
Station and Saheednagar Police Station. The last named police
station comprising some areas of Bhubaneshwar and Capital Police
Stations was constituted under Home Department Notification
No. P 6 P-37[74 Pt. 14189/P dated 22nd April 1974,

The whole of the district may be divided into three dissimilar natu-
ral divisions, the littoral tract, a level alluvial tract and the hilly tract.

Of these the last two tracts are conspicuous.

Khurda subdivision marks the transition from the peaceful,
thickly populated deltaic region to the wild jungles and the mountain

passes of the Nayagarh subdivision. The country along the Daya is

flat and alluvial, while further inland, there are long ranges of

rugged hills. The river Daya Is, in fact, the boundary between the
plains and the inland hilly tract. The country to its north and west is

studded with hills, while to the south and east it is plain and fertile.

This strip of the country lies between the alluvial plain and the
Bay of Bengal. It assumes the form of a bare belt of sandy ridges
which stretches along the sea-shore for the full length of the district,
varying from 6'5 km. to a few hundred metres in width. Accu-
mulations of wind-blown sand give rise to ridges parallel to the coast.

1t forms the dividing line between the Chilka lake and the ocean.

This level alluvial region is full of villages and rice fields, watered
by a network of channels, through which the water of the Kuakhai,
the most southerly branch of the Mahanadi, find their way to the sea.
In this region there are a few detached hills, such as the Dhauli hills
and the hills close to the Delang Railway Station, which rise some-
what abruptly from the alluvial plain. Almost the whole of the culti-
vable land is under plough. The highlands, for which no means
of irrigation has yet been devised, are under cultivation of biali or
autumn rice, pulses, etc, while sarada or winter rice is grown in the
marshy depressions known as pats and in other low-lying land. To

the north of Puri, dalua or spring rice is grown.

ToroGrApPHY

Natural
divisions

The littoral
tract

The level
alluvial
tract
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The higher lands are occupied by small patches of forest, by exten-
sive mango, jack and polang groves and by village sites concealed
from view in the foliage of banyan, tamarind and other trees. Rice
lands of varied levels fill up the intervening space and the whole
combines to form a pleasing picture, the eye being nowhere wearied
in the dull flat expanses stretching unbroken to the horizon. ~As we
proceed further south we come to the second zone of the delta where
there is less diversity and level and woodland scenery is rare. The
village sites are more exposed and clusters of coconut, palmyra and
date-palms take the place of the more leafy groves of the north. The
villages are surrounded by picturesque groves of trees.

To the extreme east, however, between the Kushabhadra river
and the boundary of Cuttack, there is a strip of high and less fertile
land where cultivation is varied by stretches of moor-land and patches
of scrub jungle; this tract eventually merges in the jungle round the
mouths of the Devi river, where it finds an outlet to the sea in a net-
work of creeks.

Corresponding with the Khurda and Nayagarh subdivisions,
this tract is a hilly broken country. This territory unlike the alluvial
plain country is well above the flood level and forms the watershed
between the Mahanadi and the Chilka lake. The hill ranges break
the country into small but well cultivated fertile valleys intersected by
hill streams. The west and north-west of the Khurda subdivision is
rocky and separates it from the Nayagarh subdivision. All the Tahsils
of the Nayagarh subdivision which are coterminous with the ex-
State areas are almost separated from one another by long tree-clad
hill ranges. In the open undulating country of this tract are found
extensive fertile and populous villages. The natural beauty of this
hill-tract is exceedingly fine. With its wide ranges of tree-clad hills,
well-watered valleys gleaming bright in the sun, green waving crops of
paddy and the deep green foliage of the forest the whole country
assumes the form of a gigantic park.

Describing the hill system of the old Puri district, that is, the present
district barring the Nayagarh subdivision, P. T. Mansfield writes;

“Practically all the hills in the district are in the Khurda subdivision,
where they are found in more or less extensive ranges or in detached
peaks and blocks, with elevations varying from under five hundred to
three thousand feet above sea-level. One of these ranges beginning
in Dompara in the Cuttack district and running south-east in an irre~
gular line towards the Chilka lake, forms the watershed between it
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and the Mahanadi valley. The eastern faces of the hills are usually
rocky and precipitous. The western slopes are easier, and are well
covered with earth and jungle, often with beds of laterite and
grayel, from which issue good springs of pure water. On the rorth-
west of the Chilka the hills become bold and very varied in shape, with
fertile valleys running far inland between the ridges, and throw out
spurs and promontories into the lake, forming island-studded bays.

The most conspicuous peaks are Solari in Banpur, Bhelari on the
scuth-west boundary of the Khurda subdivision and Baitha and
Barunai, a mile to the south-west of Khurda town. Solari is a group
of peaks rising one above another from the flat land near the Chilka
lake, and the other three are saddle-backed hills rising into bare and
often inaccessible precipices. There is a splendid tank, belicved to be
the work of prehistoric builders, on the Solari hill; and both this and
the Barunai hill contain caves which have been hermitages and places
of pilgrimage from the time immemorial. Historically, however,
the most inieresting hills are Khandagiri and Udayagiri, two hills,
separated by a narrow gorge, which rise abruptly from the rocky soil
near Bhubaneswar, and are honeycombked with cells and cave
dwellings cut from the solid rock by the Jains over tWo thousand
years ago. Among other interesting places in the hills may be mention-
ed Atri, where there is a hot mineral cpring in the midst of highly-
cultivated valley; and two picturesque passes on the Ganjam rcad, one
at Singeshwar and one at Kurarhmal, five miles south of Khurda.

There are a few outliers of the Khurda hills in the alluvial plains
which constitute the rest of the district. They cross the valley of the
Daya at Dhauligiri, an isolated peak which is famous for the Asoka
inscription carved on a great slab of rock at its base, and at Jagdal-
pur, where there is a line of low hills intersected by the railway.
The highest peak in this range is about five hundred feet above sea-
level and is crowned by an ancient Hindu temple.”

Important hill ranges of the district are generally seen in the Naya-
garh subdivision. On the west and south of the Daspalla Tahsii
there are fine hill ranges without any peaks of special height. These
ranges are covered with dense forest specially tc the north where there
are large tracts of valuable Sal (Shorea robusta) forests. A continu-
ous range of hills stretches along the south bank of the Mahanadi
from Gania to the border of Baudh broken only by the valley of the
Burtanga river near Chhamundia. The range increasing in height
and steepness as it passes west into the Satkosia gorge of the Barmul
pass where the slopes facing the river are extremely precipitous. *To
the south and west of Khandapara Tahsil are found hill ranges of
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negiigible height clad with fine Sal. A splendid range of hills varying
from 610 to 762 metres in height runs through the centre of the
Nayagarh Tahsil. Another chain of precipitous hills surrounds the
southern and eastern boundaries of the Tahsil in the form of a semi-
circle. These ranges are unbroken though at places aliernated by
small peaks. In south-west of Ranpur Tahsil is found a region of
forest clad hills which walls whole of its western side except a single
pass leading into the Nayagarh Tahsil.

Other important hill ranges of Nayagarh are the Langalkhol range
(between Daspalla and Baudh whose highest peak is 610 metres above
sea level), the Aswinkhol hills(said to contain lime-stone in large quan-
tity), the Goaldei range (on the right bank o! the Mahanadi), the
Birigadei range ( a circular range in the centre of Daspaila) and the
Sikharpanga range (on the boundary between Daspalla and Ganjam
district).

In Nayagarh subdivision are found almost all the principal peaks
of the district. They are Mundula Parbat (784 metres) and Balimunda
Parbat (855 metres) in Daspalla police station; Goaldei (779 metres)
and Burudhani (720 metres) in Gania police station. Chiklikhai
(737 metres) in Khandapara police station; Suliya (682 metres) in Naya-
garh police station and Badamal (607 metres), Bharisahi Parbat (585
metres) and Tamna (749 metres) in Sarankul police station. Besides,
many unnamed peaks of considerable height ars also met with. Khunda-
bola (949 metres) the highest peak in the district is in Banpur police
station of Khurda subdivision. Another notable peak of Banpur
is Bankar Pahar (547 metres).

The length of the sea coast of the district of Puri is nearly 150°4 km.
Sandy ridges are found along the sea coast, which stretch into the
districts of Cuttack and Ganjam. One such narrow sandy spit divides
the lake Chilka from the Bay of Bengal. These sandy ridges and
dunes are formed by the strong monsoon currents which blow over the
country for nearly 8 months of the year. The ridges vary from about
7km. to a few metres in width and have prevented most of the rivers
of the district from finding their way int> the ocean.

The following are the important estuaries in the district:

Devi Estuary : Th» river Devi debouches into the ocean through
a net work of creeks. It forms a wide tidal estuary which is navigable
up to Machgaon, a distance of nearly i3 miles (21 km.) on the river.
The estuary, while nearly half a mile (0°8 km.) wide at the mouth, ge(s
wider towards the interior, The river Kadua joins the Devi i ite
right bank near the mouth. v
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Prachi Estuary: The river Prachi falls in the ocean some 7 miles
(112 km.) to the south of Kakatpur forming a narrow estuary. The
tidal effect is felt up to a distance of nearly 6 miles (9°6 km.) upstream.

Kushabhadra Estuary; To the south of Ramachandi the river
Kushabhadra having been pushed north-wards by the coastal sand
ridges falls into the ocean. It produces a shallow water mass just

before entering the sea. Tidal effects are seen in the lower portion
of the reaches.

No island is found in the coastal waters of Puri. But the Chilka
lake is separated {rom the Bay of Bengal by a group of islands formed
by silt deposit. The important islands found in Puri portion of the
Chilka lake are (i) Nalabana island which was formerly covered with
reeds, but is free from them at present, (i/) Barunikuda island and
lastly (i) Kankarkuda island. Besides these, isolated hillocks are
found ia some areas of Chilka.

Puri is endowed with no natural harbour nor its coast is suitable
for any artificial one. Being on the roadstead sonmie amount of import
and export trade used to be made from Puri town in the past. it was
open only for six months from middle of October to the middle of
March. Usually the vessels stayed at a distance of about a kilo-

metre from the shore in good weather, and the goods were loaded and
unloaded through the fishing boats.

All the rivers of Pyri district have a common characteristic. In
the hot weather they are beds of sand with tiny streams or none at
all, while in the rains they receive more waterthan they can carry.
They enter the plains from the hills and during monsoons are charged
with large quantities of silts. On entering the plains their velocity
is retarded and is reduced to a point where the water can no longer

carry the whole of the suspended matter which is deposited in the
river-bed.

The bed thus tends to rise and so also the fiood level. Congs-

quently the water of the river overflows either of its banks and spreads
thie silt on the land in the vicinity. This process continues till the

river is no longer able to flow along its course and a position of

unstable cquilibrinm is reached when the river bursts into the bank

and throws out a branch. The process is repeated as more and more

silt is gradually deposited on the land. This is the typical feature
of a ‘deltaic country’ where the river-bed rises up constantly over-
flowing their bank and casting off a network of branches. The
deltaic characteristics are very noticeable in the coastal districts.

Island

Port

RIVER SYSTEM
AND WATER
REZOURCES
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